Filed 11-25-2024

Page 1 of 21

FILED 11-25-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Appeal number 24-AP-1668

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CESAR FERNANDEZ-REYES,

Defendant-Petitioner.

APPEAL OF THE AUGUST 8, 2024, NON-FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN LANGLADE COUNTY CASE NUMBER 22-CF-22, THE HON. JOHN RHODE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF

DEFENDANT-PETITIONER ADDRESSING THE MERITS OF THE DOUBLE JEOPARDY ISSUE

ROBERT T. RUTH Attorney for Defendant-Petitioner State Bar No. 1021445

Robert T. Ruth Law Offices, S.C. 7 N. Pinckney Street, Suite 240 Madison, WI 53703 608-257-2540

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Does the double jeopardy issue in the present case merit permissive review?

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Fernandez-Reyes does not request oral argument or publication at this stage. Oral argument and publication may be appropriate after permissive review is granted.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On February 18, 2022, the State charged Cesar Fernandez-Reyes with two counts of First-Degree Sexual Assault of a Child. (R.2). The Information alleges that Fernandez-Reyes assaulted Child Victim, dob 01/07/2010 (hereinafter "child") in Antigo, Wisconsin, between August 2015 and November 2016. (R.18). The factual basis for the charge comes from a 2021 interview with the child, who claimed that she was raped vaginally and anally every day when her mom went to work. (2:2).

Fernandez-Reyes spent almost two years in custody waiting for the trial. The jury was selected and sworn on December 11, 2023. The prosecutor clearly had an upper respiratory illness during the jury selection and opening statements. During *voir dire* she told the jury panel,

> If you probably have noticed, I have a cold. So I apologize in advance if I start coughing in the middle of this.

(97:84-85). The parties made opening statements on the same day. (*see id.* at 124 and 127).

The state gave a short opening statement, about two pages of transcript, where it merely outlined basic information about the case that was revealed in the discovery. (*id.* at 124). The defendant's opening statement, however, set forth his complete trial strategy and revealed deep flaws in the State's case and its investigation of the case. (*id.* at 127-141).

In the opening Fernandez-Reves explained that in 2016 there was an allegation that Fernandez-Reyes spanked the child's sister. (*id.* at 130). In a June 20, 2016, video-recorded interview, the then six-year-old child categorically denied any sexual mistreatment by Fernandez-Reves. (*id.* at 130-33). For example, the interviewer asked the child, "Sometimes I talk to kids about if people hurt their bodies. Who hurts your body?" The child responded, "No one do." (*id.* at 131). The interviewer asked the child, "I also talk to kids if somebody touches their body, and that's not okay. Who touches your body?" In 2016 the child answered, "No one." (id.). The interviewer asked, "Has somebody ever wanted you to see or touch their body? Is this yes, or no, or something else?" The child answered, "No." (*id.*). The interviewer asked the child, "does [Fernandez-Reyes] ever do things that hurt your body?" The child paused and answered, "Sometimes he spanks me." (id. at 132). In other words, the 2016 interview amounts to a denial by the child of any sexual touching by Fernandez-Reyes from August 2015 (the start of the charging period) through at least June 20, 2016. The prosecutor knew about this interview by the time of the trial (because Fernandez-Reyes told her about it), but she did not know about it when she filed the charges.

During the opening statement Fernandez-Reyes revealed that from August of 2015, until June 20, 2016, the child's mother worked at Walmart, mostly from 4:00 a.m. to 1:00 p.m. (*id.* at 136). She took the child and her siblings to the babysitter's house before work and picked them up after. (*id.*). During this same time period, Fernandez-Reyes worked at the Mattoon Mill from 5:30 a.m. until about 2:30 p.m. (*id.*). His friend picked him up for work between 5 and 5:15 a.m. (*id.*). The information about the babysitter and work schedule was revealed to the prosecutor for the first time in the opening statement. It was not something that the State investigated. Thus, during the opening statement the prosecutor learned for the first time that the evidence will show Fernandez-Reyes was not home alone with the child from August 2015 through June 20, 2016, when her mother was at work.

Fernandez-Reyes explained in his opening statement that from June 21, 2016, until August 25, 2016, he was incarcerated in the Winnebago County Jail without any form of release. (*id.* at 138). Thus, from June 21, 2016, until August 25, 2016, it would have been impossible for Fernandez-Reyes to have any physical contact with the child.

Finally, Fernandez-Reyes revealed in his opening statement that on August 25, 2016, he moved to Malone, Wisconsin, over two hours away from Antigo. (*id.* at 138-140). Soon thereafter he found an apartment in Malone and started to work second shift at the Lake Breeze Dairy. (*id.*). He never moved back to Antigo or lived with the child and her mother again during the charged time period. (*id.*). The prosecution did not investigate Fernandez-Reyes's employment or residence after he was released from jail, so it learned for the first time during the opening statement that Fernandez-Reyes moved away from Antigo in August 2016.

The evidentiary portion of the trial was supposed to start on December 12, 2023. Instead, on December 12, 2023, the State moved for a mistrial alleging that the prosecutor tested positive for Covid-19. (95:5). Fernandez-Reyes adamantly opposed a mistrial.

At the December 12, 2023, hearing on the State's motion for a mistrial, Fernandez-Reyes made a discovery demand for the prosecutor's medical records for the week leading up to the trial and requested the opportunity to call witnesses. Counsel asserted,

> I make a discovery demand for all of the medical records for Ms. Hays for, let's say, the last week. I think we need to look at those records. We need to study those records, and we need to -- to see what's in there.

> And then I also make a request for an evidentiary hearing where witnesses will be called, and put under oath, and testify, and we can find out exactly what the facts are here that the State proposes to --you to rely upon to grant a mistrial in this case.

(*id.* at 7). Apart from this request, Fernandez-Reyes insisted that the prosecutor provide the details of her Covid symptoms, when the onset of symptoms occurred, and proof of the alleged positive Covid-19 test result. (*id.* at 8-9).

With one exception, the Court accepted everything that the prosecutor said about her Covid situation at face value and refused to entertain most of Fernandez-Reyes's discovery requests. The notable exception is that early in the discussion the Court ordered the prosecutor to provide "the record confirming [her] diagnosis." (*id.* at 10). The Court eventually abandoned this order, however, and the alleged positive test result was not made part of the record before the Court declared a mistrial.¹

Fernandez-Reyes proposed that instead of a mistrial, the Court should consider masking, social distancing, a short adjournment, the use of Zoom and the use of the prosecutor's assistant district attorney to help the State at trial. The defendant also proposed that rather than declare a mistrial in haste, the Court should delay the trial by one day and see where things stand. This request was based largely on the fact although she did not volunteer it when she made the motion, it came out during the arguments that the prosecutor allegedly took two Covid tests. (*id.* at 10). One test was allegedly negative the other allegedly positive. The defendant proposed to wait a day, in part, to see if the next test was negative. (*id.* at 13-14).

Early in the discussion the judge found that there is a possible plan to go forward without a mistrial. On this topic the Court said,

> All plans I think are – are appropriate. I'm considering them all, including the one-day delay, including trying to resume on the 18th or 19th, including mistrial, including the options of proceeding today with Zoom and – and cocounsel from the – or, from the state. I'm going to ponder all those.

¹ Near the end of the hearing the prosecutor claimed that during a break she emailed the judge "a copy of the letterhead and the first part of the letter confirming the positive Covid-19 test." (*id.* at 19). The alleged test result was not made part of the record before the Court declared the mistrial, nor did the Court review the alleged email before it declared the mistrial.

Page 10 of 21

They're – none of them are outlandish or way out of bounds. So let me think.

(*id.* at 18).

The Trial Judge, however, abruptly changed his mind about how to proceed after two of his friends weighed in. The Court emailed four friends with a "brief overview of the situation" and asked for their advice. (*id.* at 18). The judge informed the parties that before he makes a decision he wants to review "any emails from them with any other suggestions." (*id.* at 17-18). The Court took a brief recess and learned that two of his friends replied. One of the friends said, "Absolutely. It has to be a mistrial" and the other friend said, "Unless the DA has an assistant that can pick things up from here, it's a mistrial." (*id.* at 19).

Immediately after receiving the influence of his friends (but without seeing evidence of a positive Covid-19 test result), the Court ruled as follows:

> Considering all of the options here, and the complications, and I am sensitive to the fact that this may actually harm the State and benefit Mr. Fernandez in the form of this could be a mistake, and jeopardy has attached, and the whole case is done now, or that it -- it could require me to feel compelled to accommodate Mr. Fernandez with him significantly granting a reduced or signature bond while we wait. But my heart, and my guts, and my head tell me that this requires an adjournment.

(id. at 24).

The next day the State filed what purports to be a letter setting forth that the prosecutor tested positive for Covid-19. (R. 90). The defendant objected in writing the same day. (R. 88). The Court overruled the objection and supplemented the record with the alleged Covid test result. The Court also reviewed the emails that passed between the prosecutor and the Court. The judge noted that the prosecutor emailed the judge a copy of the allegedly positive Covid test result during the motion hearing on December 12, 2023. (96:7). After the hearing, the judge emailed the prosecutor back stating, "Can you file that so it is in the record." (*id.*). The prosecutor emailed the judge back stating, "I can't today but can make sure I do once I'm better." (*id.*).

On July 30, 2024, Fernandez-Reyes filed a motion to bar retrial alleging that the Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it granted the mistrial. (R. 99). The Court applied the "strictest possible scrutiny," but denied the motion at a hearing on August 6, 2024. The Court signed the written order on August 8, 2024. (R. 102).

Fernandez-Reyes petitioned this Court for leave to appeal the non-final order entered on August 8, 2024. The Court ordered Fernandez-Reyes to file a brief addressing the merits of the double jeopardy issue. This brief followed.

ARGUMENT

I. This Court must apply the strictest possible scrutiny to the Circuit Court's decision to grant a mistrial.

Depending on the facts of the case, reviewing courts apply a "spectrum of deference to a circuit court's exercise of its discretion in granting a mistrial." *State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶41, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783. If the mistrial is based on a deadlocked jury or improper argument by defense counsel, the circuit court's decision to grant a mistrial is afforded "special respect." *State v. Seefeldt*, 2003 WI 47, ¶27, 261 Wis. 2d 383, 661 N.W.2d 822 (quoting *Arizona v. Washington*, 434 U.S. 497, 510, 98 S.Ct. 824, 54 L.Ed. 2d 717 (1978). A reviewing court applies the strictest possible scrutiny, however, whenever "there is reason to believe that the prosecutor is using the State's superior resources ... to achieve a tactical advantage." *Id.* at ¶25, citing *Washington*, 434 U.S. at 508.

The Court permitted no discovery before it ordered the mistrial, so the record is underdeveloped on the prosecutor's motives for the motion. Still, the evidence suggests that the State sought the mistrial to achieve tactical advantage. The prosecutor was clearly ill at the start of the trial, yet she made the decision to go forward with jury selection and opening statements. After hearing an outline of the defendant's evidence and strategy, the prosecutor took a Covid-19 test. The fact that she took the first test, standing alone, does not prove that she had an improper motive. But when that test was negative, the fact that she took a second test suggests that she was fishing for a way to get a mistrial. The second test at least provides "a reason to believe" that the prosecutor did not like what she heard in the opening statement and she wanted a second chance to put together the State's case.

There can be no question that the State gained a tactical advantage by the mistrial. Fernandez-Reves revealed numerous defects in the state's case. For example, he revealed that the child was with a babysitter (and unavailable to Fernandez-Reyes) when her mother was at work for the first several months of the charged time period. (97:136), that for the next two months Fernandez-Reyes was in jail (id. at 138), and after that he moved two plus hours away and no longer lived with the child and her mother. (id. at 138-140). These details basically make the State's claim of sexual assault during the charged time frame The State learned about Fernandezimpossible. Reves's jail stretch before the opening statements, but it did not know the details of the mother's work schedule, the babysitter schedule, or the fact that Fernandez-Reyes moved away when he got out of jail.

Without much explanation, the Circuit Court found that it should apply the "strictest possible scrutiny" to its decision to grant a mistrial. This Court should do the same.

II. The Circuit Court erroneously exercised its discretion when it granted the mistrial.

The review of a motion for a mistrial requires the court of appeals to satisfy itself that "the circuit court exercised sound discretion in ordering a mistrial." *Id.* at ¶13. In general, a court properly exercises its discretion when it makes a "reasoned and reasonable determination" that is "based upon the facts appearing in the record and in reliance on the appropriate and applicable law." *Hartung v. Hartung*, 102 Wis. 2d 58, 66, 306 N.W.2d 16, 20 (1981). On the issue of a mistrial, the sound exercise of discretion requires the court to do all three of the following:

1. give "both parties a full opportunity to explain their positions and consider alternatives...". See State v. Green, 2023 WI 57, ¶24, 408 Wis. 2d 248, 262, 992 N.W.2d 56, 63-64, citing State v. Moeck, 2005 WI 57, ¶43, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783;

2. "accord careful consideration to [defendant]'s interest in having the trial concluded in a single proceeding." *Id.*, citing *Washington*, 434 U.S. at 516;

3. "ensure that the record reflects that there is an adequate basis for a finding of manifest necessity." *Id.*, citing *Moeck*, 280 Wis. 2d 277, ¶43, 2005 WI 57, 695 N.W.2d 783.

a. By refusing to permit discovery and evidence, the Court did not give Fernandez-Reyes a "full opportunity to explain his position."

Fernandez-Reyes requested discovery of the prosecutor's medical records for the week leading up to the jury selection. He also requested an evidentiary hearing where he could call witnesses. Finally, he requested more limited discovery, *i.e.*, the details of the prosecutor's Covid symptoms, when the onset of symptoms occurred, and proof of the alleged positive Covid-19 test result. (95:8-9). The Court denied everything, except that it did order the prosecutor to provide "the record confirming your – your diagnosis." (*id.* at 10).

The timing of the Covid tests is suspicious. The prosecutor was ill with Covid type symptoms before the trial. Did she take Covid test before trial? We do not know because the judge refused to order her to turn over any records from the week before the trial. After the opening statements, she allegedly took a second Covid test after the first test came up negative. Whose idea was it to take the second Covid test? We do not know that either because the judge would not permit discovery. But if the prosecutor requested the second Covid test, it powerfully suggests that she is fishing for a mistrial. We do know that the defendant's opening statement revealed deep flaws in the State case. That gives the prosecutor an incentive to seek a second kick at the investigation.

Discovery of the Covid records and the opportunity to call witnesses is the only way to fully unravel the prosecutor's motives and determine whether she was legitimately too sick to proceed. Refusing discovery and evidence, and merely accepting the prosecutor's claims at face value, deprives Fernandez-Ryes a "full opportunity to explain his position."

> b. The circuit court did not "accord careful consideration to [defendant]'s interest in having the trial concluded in a single proceeding."

Because jeopardy attaches prior to judgment, double jeopardy protection reaches a criminal defendant's "valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal," and to be spared from the burdens of multiple trials, even if those trials do not finally resolve the merits of the charges. *Washington*, 434 U.S. at 503. The Supreme Court explains it like this:

> The reasons why this "valued right" merits constitutional protection are worthy of repetition. Even if the first trial is not completed, a second prosecution may be grossly unfair. It increases the financial and emotional burden on the accused, prolongs the period in which he is an stigmatized by unresolved accusation of wrongdoing, and may even enhance the risk that an defendant innocent mav he The danger of such convicted. unfairness to the defendant exists whenever a trial is aborted before it is completed.

Id. at 503-05.

In the present case, jeopardy attached the moment that the jury was sworn. At that point, Fernandez-Reyes had the right under the federal and state Double Jeopardy Clauses to "have his trial completed by [that] particular tribunal," and to be spared from the burdens of multiple trials." *Id.* at 503. In granting the motion for a mistrial, the Court never addressed Fernandez-Reyes's right to "have his trial completed by [that] particular tribunal." This topic just never entered into the Court's reasoning. No matter what level of scrutiny the reviewing court applies, the failure to consider this essential element of the double jeopardy protection amounts to a failure to exercise sound discretion.

c. The circuit court failed to "ensure that the record reflects that there is an adequate basis for a finding of manifest necessity."

The trial court agreed that it should require proof of the positive Covid test result and ordered the prosecutor to provide it. After all, the alleged positive Covid test result was the basis for the mistrial. Considering what was at stake, requiring proof of the positive test result is a minimum level of protection for the defendant. In a rush to judgement, apparently persuaded more by his friends than the facts in the record, the Court granted the mistrial without any proof of the positive result in the record.

A court properly exercises its discretion only when its decision is "based upon the facts appearing in the record and in reliance on the appropriate and applicable law." Hartung, 102 Wis. 2d 58 at 66. Early in the hearing on the motion for a mistrial the Court made the decision that basic fairness requires that the State must submit proof of the positive test result. This is consistent with the basic double jeopardy principle that requires the court to "ensure that the record reflects that there is an adequate basis for a finding of manifest necessity." The Court then disregarded its own order and granted the motion for a mistrial without proof of a positive Covid test. This is an erroneous exercise of discretion because it amounts to a failure by the court to "ensure that the record reflects that there is an adequate basis for a finding of manifest necessity."

d. The Court's heavy reliance on advice from friends on how to exercise discretion amounts to a misuse of discretion.

The proper exercise of discretion requires the court to limit itself to the "facts appearing in the record" and "appropriate and applicable law." The trial judge, however, sought advice from friends about what they think that he should do. Without considering the need for discovery and without evidence of a positive Covid test result, one friend said, "Absolutely. It has to be a mistrial" and the other said, "Unless the DA has an assistant that can pick things up from here, it's a mistrial." Apart from the lack of a factual basis to make the decision, what stands out most about this advice is that it was not advice on the law; it was advice that went directly to how the Court should exercise its discretion.

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