FILED 12-23-2024 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2024AP1668-CRLV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CESAR O. FERNANDEZ-REYES,

Defendant-Petitioner.

ON LEAVE TO APPEAL AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO DISMISS ON DOUBLE JEOPARDY GROUNDS, ENTERED IN LANGLADE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN B. RHODE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court was presented with a most difficult situation on the eve of the second day of trial. The prosecutor, who had shown symptoms of an illness on the first day of trial, went to urgent care for treatment of her symptoms that night and tested positive for Covid. She was ordered to guarantine for five days. The State requested a mistrial the next morning and Fernandez-Reyes opposed it. The court thoroughly considered alternatives short of a mistrial before concluding that there was no feasible alternative. It then made the difficult decision to declare a mistrial despite the double jeopardy implications.

The The court correct. prosecutor had was inadvertently exposed the jurors and everyone else in the courtroom to Covid on the first day. The prosecutor only had one assistant who was on the job for less than three months, fresh out of law school, and unfamiliar with the case. An adjournment for one or two days, or into the following week,

Filed 12-23-2024

was not feasible because it would be difficult to reschedule the two Spanish language interpreters or the parties' expert witnesses on such short notice. The parties learned that one juror would have to be excused for cause unrelated to the prosecutor's illness, leaving no alternate juror. Having been exposed by the prosecutor to Covid, any of the remaining 12 jurors might become ill or be biased against the State for putting them in this situation. The prosecutor did not intend to cause a mistrial to gain a tactical advantage. An adjournment of any length was not feasible because the jurors had all been exposed to Covid. The trial could not feasibly continue with that jury.

The prosecutor did nothing wrong. She got Covid and inadvertently exposed everyone in the courtroom. She did not delay the test to obtain a tactical advantage. Fernandez-Reyes's accusation that she manufactured this situation to gain a tactical advantage is utterly baseless. The judge did nothing wrong. He could take the prosecutor at her word as an officer of the court because she was bound by the Code of Ethics to be truthful and candid. In any event, the prosecutor produced the positive test results on the morning of the second day of trial to confirm her unsworn statements. The judge also could consult his experienced judicial colleagues (inappropriately categorized by Fernandez-Reyes as the judge's "friends") for their advice on how to handle the problem. He did so and put their advice on the record. The court then properly applied the law to the facts before declaring a mistrial.

This Court would be hard-pressed to find a more thorough exercise of discretion than that engaged in by the trial court before it declared a mistrial here. The inadvertent exposure of the jurors to Covid created a "manifest necessity" for a mistrial. There was no double jeopardy bar to a retrial.

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly exercised its discretion because the prosecutor's positive Covid test and inadvertent exposure of the jury to Covid-19 created a "manifest necessity" for declaration of a mistrial.

The court properly exercised its sound discretion in declaring a mistrial. It applied the applicable law to these unique facts. It weighed all possible alternatives. It considered the parties' oral and written presentations. It took into account Fernandez-Reyes's interest in having his case tried in one proceeding before the chosen jury, and it considered the interests of the State, the victim, and the witnesses. This all added up to a "manifest necessity." Having properly exercised its discretion to declare a mistrial, the court then properly denied Fernandez-Reyes's motion to bar the retrial.

A. The trial court may declare a mistrial if it finds there is a "manifest necessity" for doing so.

A defendant is protected by the Fifth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Wis. Const. art. I, § 8, from being placed in jeopardy twice for the same offense. *State v. Williams*, 2004 WI App 56, ¶ 23, 270 Wis. 2d 761, 677 N.W.2d 691. Jeopardy attaches when the jury is sworn. *Id.* (citing *State v. Comstock*, 168 Wis. 2d 915, 937, 485 N.W.2d 354 (1992)). The right to be free from double jeopardy protects a defendant's "valued right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal." *Id.* (quoting Seefeldt, 261 Wis. 2d 383, ¶ 16).

The Double Jeopardy Clause does not prohibit a trial judge from declaring a mistrial over defense objection and ordering a retrial if the judge finds there is a "manifest necessity" for it or "the ends of public justice would otherwise be defeated" if the trial were to continue. *Illinois v*.

Filed 12-23-2024

Somerville, 410 U.S. 458, 461 (1973) (quoting United States v. Perez, 22 U.S. (9 Wheat.) 579, 580 (1824)); State v. Mattox, 2006 WI App 110, ¶ 13, 293 Wis. 2d 840, 718 N.W.2d 281.

Competing with the defendant's right to have his case completed in one proceeding before the chosen jury is "the public interest in affording the State one full and fair opportunity to present its evidence to an impartial jury." Williams, 270 Wis. 2d 761, ¶ 24 (citing Seefeldt, 261 Wis. 2d 383, ¶ 19). "The 'manifest necessity' standard provides sufficient protection to the defendant's interests in having his case finally decided by the jury first selected while at the same time maintaining 'the public's interest in fair trials designed to end in just judgments." Oregon v. Kennedy, 456 U.S. 667, 672 (1982) (quoting Wade v. Hunter, 336 U.S. 684, 689 (1949)).

The term "manifest necessity" is not to be interpreted literally. It is not an *absolute* necessity, but a "high degree" of necessity. Green, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 23; Washington, 434 U.S. at 506. "The determination whether a manifest necessity exists is a fact-intensive question." State v. Moeck, 2005 WI 57, ¶ 37, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783. The "manifest necessity" standard is not to be applied mechanically but flexibly to the specific problem confronting the trial court. Green, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 23 (citations omitted).

The trial court should not act hastily and it must give both sides "a full opportunity to explain their positions" with due consideration to the defendant's interest in having his trial concluded in a single proceeding. Seefeldt, 261 Wis. 2d 383, ¶ 28. Sound discretion requires acting deliberately and taking sufficient time in response to the State's mistrial motion to give both sides the opportunity to explain their positions, and to explore viable alternatives short of mistrial such as curative instructions or sanctioning counsel. The trial judge must ensure that the record reflects an adequate basis for a "manifest necessity" finding. *Id.* ¶¶ 36-37.

The issue for reviewing courts is not whether the mistrial declaration was complete or even correct; it is only whether the mistrial declaration was reasonable. See George C. Thomas III, Solving the Double Jeopardy Mistrial Riddle, 69 S. Cal. L. Rev. 1551, 1566–67 (1996) (when Justice Story first coined the term "manifest necessity," he meant it to be a guide to trial judges in exercising their virtually unreviewable discretion to declare a mistrial). The strictest scrutiny is reserved for those mistrials declared due to "the unavailability of critical prosecution evidence, or when there is reason to believe that the prosecutor is using the superior resources of the State to harass or to achieve a tactical advantage over the accused." Washington, 434 U.S. at 508 (footnote omitted).

The reviewing court should not disturb a mistrial declaration unless it is "irrational[] or irresponsibl[e]." *Id.* at 514. The following are guidelines for a proper exercise of discretion in declaring a mistrial:

A trial court exercises sound discretion in deciding manifest necessity justifies a mistrial provided the court:

- gives "both parties a full opportunity to explain their positions and consider[s] alternatives such as a curative instruction or sanctioning counsel." *State v. Moeck*, 2005 WI 57, ¶43, 280 Wis. 2d 277, 695 N.W.2d 783;
- "accord[s] careful consideration to [defendant]'s interest in having the trial concluded in a single proceeding." *Washington*, 434 U.S. at 516 [98 S.Ct. 824]; and
- "ensure[s] that the record reflects that there is an adequate basis for a finding of manifest necessity." *Moeck*, 280 Wis. 2d 277, ¶43 [695 N.W.2d 783].

A court does not exercise sound discretion if "the ... court fails to consider the facts of record under relevant law, bases its conclusion on an error of law

or does not reason its way to a rational conclusion." Id. (quoting Seefeldt, 261 Wis. 2d 383, ¶36, 661 N.W.2d 822).

Green, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 24 (alterations in original).

B. The trial court properly exercised its discretion because there were no feasible alternatives to a mistrial once the jurors were all exposed to Covid-19.

"Flexible rules ensure reviewing courts do not impede circuit courts' duty to protect 'the integrity of the trial.' As the COVID-19 pandemic made clear, a mistrial may be manifestly necessary in 'varying and often unique situations arising during the course of a criminal trial." *Green*, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 41 (citations omitted).

When confronted with the need to decide whether to declare a mistrial, the district court — like a quarterback in the red zone — must scan the field and mull all of the available options. Considering the myriad challenges posed at the relevant time by the virulence of the COVID-19 pandemic, we think that rejecting the alternatives discussed above was an appropriate exercise of the court's discretion.

United States v. Dennison, 73 F.4th 70, 79 (1st Cir. 2023).

Strict scrutiny is not warranted here because the prosecutor did nothing wrong. District Attorney Hays unknowingly contracted Covid and tested positive for it when she went to urgent care on the evening of the first day of trial. Hays did not seek a Covid test in hopes of gaining a tactical advantage after hearing defense counsel's opening statement. Fernandez-Reyes's accusation that she did and lied about it is both baseless and reckless. The court reasonably chose to take District Attorney Hays at her word. Regardless of the level of scrutiny on the "spectrum of deference to be accorded the trial court's conclusion," *Green*, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 27, the trial court thoroughly and properly exercised its sound discretion.

The court applied the relevant double jeopardy law cited by the parties in their briefs and oral arguments to the unique facts, it did not commit an error of law, and it "reason[ed] its way to a rational conclusion." *Green*, 408 Wis. 2d 248, ¶ 24 (citation omitted).

1. The trial court considered the parties' positions, alternatives to a mistrial, and the double jeopardy implications of its decision.

Filed 12-23-2024

The court gave both parties every opportunity to lay out their positions both in briefs and in oral presentations to the court. It carefully considered their respective positions on how best to resolve this difficult, unanticipated situation. The court considered the double jeopardy implications of its decision. It recognized that jeopardy attached when the jury was sworn the day before and that an adjournment would in essence mean a mistrial. (R. 95:23–25; 96:6–10; 109:20–32.)

The court carefully weighed Fernandez-Reyes's valued interest in having his case tried in one proceeding before the jury selected for that trial. The court considered adjourning the trial for a day or two, or into the following week to serve that interest. The court considered every possible alternative to a mistrial. It reasonably found that an adjournment of any length was not feasible because the jurors had been exposed to Covid, there would be no alternate juror because one juror of the thirteen selected would have to be struck for cause when the trial resumed, and the two Spanish language interpreters and the parties' expert witnesses likely would be unable to rearrange their schedules to appear the following week.

It is by no means clear that a seven-to-ten-day adjournment, as the defendant now proposes, would have either been feasible under the circumstances or resolved the problems with which the district court was confronted.

Filed 12-23-2024

. . .

Moreover, the trial could only resume at that later date if all essential persons (including counsel, witnesses, and jurors) were themselves COVID-free — a difficult thing for a trial court to predict amidst an ongoing pandemic.

Dennison, 73 F.4th at 80.

The trial proceedings depend on the health of the participants; their health is a factor to be considered in the double jeopardy analysis. *United States v. Jorn*, 400 U.S. 470, 479–80 (1971); *Hightower v. State*, 883 S.E.2d 335, 339 (Ga. 2023). Fernandez-Reyes does not explain why it would have made any sense to adjourn and proceed with a jury that had been exposed to and possibly infected with Covid, risking a trial with less than twelve jurors should one or more become sick. Masking up or appearing via Zoom would not solve anything if fewer than twelve jurors were available because one or more was home sick with Covid. Anger over Covid exposure might also have seriously interfered with the remaining jurors' ability to decide this case fairly and impartially based only on the facts and the law.

Fernandez-Reyes seems to believe that the existence of possible alternatives renders the court's decision an erroneous exercise of discretion. But the double jeopardy analysis does not turn on the mere existence of possible alternatives that a defendant might have preferred to a mistrial. Instead, it asks whether the court properly considered those alternatives and reasonably concluded that they were not workable. That is precisely what the court did here.

2. There was no need for discovery or a formal evidentiary hearing to delve into the prosecutor's actions and motives.

Filed 12-23-2024

For the first time on appeal, Fernandez-Reyes accuses District Attorney Hays of misconduct and lying to the court.

Still, the evidence suggests that the State sought the mistrial to achieve tactical advantage. The prosecutor was clearly ill at the start of the trial, yet she made the decision to go forward with jury selection and opening statements. After hearing an outline of the defendant's evidence and strategy, the prosecutor took a Covid-19 test. The fact that she took the first test, standing alone, does not prove that she had an improper motive. But when that test was negative, the fact that she took a second test suggests that she was fishing for a way to get a mistrial.

(Fernandez-Reyes's Br. 12.) "The timing of the Covid tests is suspicious." (Fernandez-Reyes's Br. 15.)

That is the opposite of the position Fernandez-Reyes took in the trial court when the issue arose. "I don't come here this morning and accuse anybody of anything." (R. 95:6.) "[A]gain, I don't accuse anyone of anything." (R. 95:8.) And, eight months later, "I'm not accusing anyone of anything." (R.109:18–19.) Now he is.

Fernandez-Reyes was right the first time. District Attorney Hays did nothing wrong. She got Covid. That's it! The court did not have to put Hays under oath before finding that she was truly sick with Covid and did not delay her test to gain a tactical advantage.

The court made sure that the record sufficiently supported its finding of a manifest necessity. The court heard what District Attorney Hays had to say about the timing, reasons for, and results of her Covid test. Hays then provided the medical records with the positive test results at 8:55 a.m.

Filed 12-23-2024

during a break on the second day of trial while the issue of a mistrial was being discussed. (R. 90; 92; 95:19.)

Although Fernandez-Reves complains that Hays should have been placed under oath and subjected to crossexamination, and there should have been some sort of "Discovery of the Covid records and the opportunity to call witnesses" (Fernandez-Reyes's Br. 15), he does not dispute that Hays went to urgent care the night after the first day of trial for her obvious illness, she tested positive for Covid, and she immediately notified counsel and the court. The "Covid records" were then provided by Hays during the hearing the next morning.

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